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AFFIDAVIT OF AUTHENTICATION OF BUSINESS
RECORDS

THE STATE OF TEXAS

O3 LS Lo

COUNTY OF TRAVIS

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Mr.
Daniel R. Castro, who being by me first duly sworn upon his oath deposed and stated as

follows:

My name is Daniel R. Castro. I am over the age of 21 and am of sound mind and
am capable of making this affidavit. I have personal knowledge of the facts stated below,
and every statement is true and correct.

I am the custodian of records of the law offices of Castro & Baker, LLP.

Attached hereto is a true and correct copy of a letter dated September 7, 2010
addressed to Daniel R. Castro, which I personally received from the law firm of Latham
& Watkins, LLP.

This copy was made by me and kept by me or someone at my direction in the
regular course of business. It was the regular course of business for an employee, or
representative of this law firm with knowledge of the acts, events, conditions, opinions
recorded to make the record or to transmit information thereof, to be included in such
record; and the record was made at or near the time or reasonably soon thereafter. The
copy attached hereto is an exact duplicate of the original.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETHNOT. -

/ %'
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME the undersigned authority on

this \E)Sb day of December 2010. p
&;Mﬂ } %/

T Notary Public, Staté of Texas

Daniel R. Castro

SME, LISA C. GANT
«l-F% Notary Public, State of Texas
TAFANVCE My Commission Expires
K March 25, 2014
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Dehorah A, Gubernlck
Olroct Diali {714} ¥55-8282
deborsh.gubermisk@lw.com

650 Town Centar Diive, 201h Floor
Costa Mesa, Cajilsrnia 028281925
Tel +1.714,540,1235 Fax: +1.714,758.5200
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Doha Parlz
September 7, 2010 Dubal Riyadh
Frankfurt Rome
Hamburg San Disgo
Hong Keng San Franclseo
VIA FACSIMILE: 512-732-0115 AND U.8. MAIL Hougten Shanghat
Landon Silicon Vallgy
. Lo Anpeles Singapom
Daniel R. Castro Madrid Tokyo
Castro & Baker, LLP Milan Washington, D.C.
10500 Pointeview Dr

File No, 027788-22-USn00
Austin, TX 78738-5522

Re:  Infringement of the ENTREPRENEUR Trademark

Dear Mr, Castro:

This firm represents Entreprenenr Media, Inc. (*“Entrepreneur Media®) in connection with
its intellectual property enforcement matters. Entrepreneur Media is the owner of numerous
tradernark registrations for the mark ENTREPRENEUR®, a5 well as several other marks that
include the “ENTREPRENEUR” term. Entreprenenr Media uses it ENTREPRENEUR
trademarks in connection with various goads and services including its publication,
Enfreprenenr magazine, and cotresponding web site at entreprenenr.com, Entreprensur
Media’s publications and web site provide start-ups, small businesses, and small business owners
with information and various business services regarding starting and operating a successfin]
business, The ENTREPRENEUR® mark has become well-known and distinctive including
within the small business industry. Indeed, a Federal Court recently ruled that “the mark
ENTREPRENEUR is a strong, distinctive mark, deserving of significant protection,” which
ruling was upheld by the Ninth Circuit. See attached.

Ta protect these valuable rights, Entrepreneur Media has obtained federal trademark
registrations for its ENTREPRENEUR® mark pursuant to Certificate of Repistration Numbers
1,453,968, 2,263,883, 2,502,032, and 3,520,633 in International Classes 9, 16, 33, and 41,
Entrepreneur Media also has common law rights in its ENTREPRENEUR® marlk.

[t has come to our attention that you filed 2 trademark application for the mark
“ENTREPRENEUR.OLOGY" in connection with conducting workshops and seminars in
entrepreneurship in Class 41, which has now published for opposition. We also understand that

you own and operate the www entrepreneurology.com domain name and website, which uses the
mark.

' ingf g ERERETAY
’}-'E 1
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Boptember 7, 2010
Page 2

LATHAMaWATKINSu

Your application to register a mark that is nearly identical to Entrepreneur Media’s
ENTREPRENEUR® mark in connection with services that are nearly identical to Entreprenenr
Media’s services is likely to cause confusion, mistake, and/or deception regarding the sourge of
the sérvices. Accordingly, Entreprencur Media hereby demands that you immediately withdraw
your application to register the mark ENTREPRENEUR.OLOGY.

It also has come to owr attention that you have registered the entreprenevrology.com
domain name. Your unauthorized registration and use of a domain name encompassing
Entrepreneur Media’s famous trademark and trade name violates the Antieybersquatting
Consumer Protection Act, which expressly creates liability for the bad fajth registration of a
domain name that is similar to atother’s mark, and constitutes trademark infringement, dilution,
unfair competition, deceptive acts and practices, and misappropriation of the valnable goodwill,
reputation, and business property of Entrepreneur Media, in violation of federal and state
trademark and unfair competition laws. Accordingly, Entrepreneur Media hereby demands that
you immediately cease and desist from further use of the entrepreneurology.com domain name,
end that you transfer the domain name to Entrepreneur Média in accordance with the policies
and procedures of the applicable Registrar. Entrepreneur Media also demands that you agree not
to register additional domain names that contain the mark “ENTREPRENEUR.”

Please confirm whether you intend to cooperate by ceasing all use of
ENTREPRENEUR and of the enlreprengurology.com domain name, and by entering a written
settiement agreement with Entrepreneur Media to that effect. If you fail to abide hy these
demands, Entrepreneur Media will have no choice but to take appropriate action to prevent
continved use of an infringing mark and domain name. By providing you with this notice, we

are hopeful that you can choose a new mark and domain name with as little disruption to your
business as possible, .

If you would Jike to diseuss this matter, please give me a call. We look forward to
receiving a response by September 21, 2010.

Very truly yours,
Sthouh AHliig (s

Deborah A. Gubernick
of LATHAM & WATKINS LLP

Enclosure

CC\076621 .1
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AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL R. CASTRO

THE STATE OF TEXAS §
§
COUNTY OF TRAVIS §

BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Mr.
Daniel R. Castro, who being by me first duly sworn upon his oath deposed and stated as
follows:

My name is Daniel R. Castro. [ am over the age of 21 and am of sound mind and
am capable of making this affidavit. I have personal knowledge of the facts stated below,
and every statement is true and correct.

Exhibits 2 through 7 attached hereto are exact duplicates of the originals that can
be found in the public record of the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office. I personally went
to the website of the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office and downloaded and printed the
files.

A request for certified copies of these documents has been made to the U.S.
Patent & Trademark Office, but the documents have not yet arrived. When they arrive,
the undersigned will file & motion to substitute exhibits.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NOT: % Q(L
Cerke ‘?’ g4

Daniel R, Castro -

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME the undersigned authority on
this day of December 2010.

Notary Public, State of Texas
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Int. Cl.: 41
Prior U.S. Cls.: 100, 101 and 107

United States Patent and Trademark Office

Reg. No. 3,663,282
Registered Aug. 4, 2009

SERVICE MARK
PRINCIPAL REGISTER

EntrepreNeurology

CASTRO, DANIEL. R. (UNITED STATES INDIVI-
DUAL)

BUILDING 1, SUITE 450

12401 RESEARCH BLVD

AUSTIN, TX 78759

FOR: CONDUCTING WORKSHOFS AND SEMI-
NARS IN INNOVATION AND STRATEGIC PLAN-
NING, IN CLASS 41 (US. CLS. 100, 101 AND 107).

FIRST USE 1-7-2009; IN COMMERCE 1-7-2009,

THE MARK CONSISTS OF STANDARD CHAR-
ACTERS WITHOUT CLAIM TO ANY PARTICULAR
FONT, STYLE, SIZE, OR COLOR.

SER., NO. 77-651,410, FILED 1-16-2009.

NICHOLAS COLEMAN, EXAMINING ATTORNEY
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Patent and Trademark Office

Th REPLY REFER TO THE FOLLOWING AND THE FILIEG DATE:

SERIAL NO. APPLICANT ‘
73/837379 ENTREFPRENEUR s THNC.

BDDRESS:

MARK Commissioner of
ENTREPRENEUR Ea?en+? 2
RESS ) ACTION NO. _-z"—*d@rr;ﬂrl«r:.

; ADD Weshington, DC

' HEMNRY BISSELL ' 01 20231

&870 LA TIJERA EOULEVARD ‘
’ - AILING D .
LOS ANGELES: CALIFORNIA 90045 : MAILING DATE| 11, ag
' ‘ 07/09/85 1 all cor

oo p
net contzining fee
payments should
3 - . _ inelude Lhe word
FORMPTO-1525 (284) US.DEPT.OF COMM.PAT.&TMOFFICE | ' ‘Box 5.

AZ ¢ furnish: (1) Serizl number of application, (2) The wark,
Attorney™s name and Law OFfipca t:mbﬂr, (L) Meilin &

(5) Appliecant's name (or appliecant's attorney), t
cude,

OFFTCE ACTYON MUST BE RECEIVED WITHIR & MOMTHS
10N IN ORDER TO AVOID ABANLDONMERT.

30 that T can consider the registrability 3 < (37 C ot ////,’
o} coniider the ! cf the mar! T CF bio:

S eriny . Lppah consider ) % i ¥ 1% mark (S.LC-ﬁ Section

2.0 i BRP Becticons 1702.C4 and 1105.02); pleass submii advertisement .

Twe a2pplications are pending for the registrasion of marks which so
reszmble the mark In thiz applicaticn =z to be likely, =as usad in

v gk jt -~ - ] Yl L i s » : 4
ggagsw:}gfﬂE;LhPEh EGGC?,(EJG/SE_SEJflOEﬁ}i,tO cause 2anfgsion, or o _

Fuse misbaks, or to §60¢1ve. Zines the Tiling date of this application i=
subseguent to the filing dates of tha other panding applications, the
1§?her, if a?q when they mature into rsgistrations, will be citacd agrinst
En;sgagg}i:anzoﬁf 537 CkﬂqSection 2.83.) Photocopies of the drawings from
cne pending applicgtiops,; Seriszl Nos. 53215%9; 507060, <be att &1

[ : L2t B3 asy DUy 3 1752, 8 uar‘h';,r'l:—- 7o —
- T NP i s b= o p 72

Cendense the Tnternationzl €lzzs @ merchandiss clause to reflect "Computadd
Frograns for use in business zpplications® Class c. )
Az respect Class 16, smend fo reflect the similar dascriptlar in your Regyy
1,167,238, 1.2., "kagazines, books znd published repcris pertaining to
businesda cpportunitiss. v
Par Hule 2.3&, claim GNUCTSh -p ?lso of Regs. 1,223,364; 1,130,828~
1 = faorm hade Revel; Inc.

Reglster becsuss the mark, uhan



w

hereaf,

z he goods, 13 consicdered to
(S=cticn 2{e)(1} of the Trademark ict, iMEP section
120G7.) :
Aany mark I8 avaluated in zssgocizbtion or conbtexit with $he identifiesd
merchandise, 3, R. Callman, Unfair Compatition, Trademarks & Monocpoliss,
iz Sec. 71.7 (3rd Ed., 166%). In the absence of z2ny Sec. 2(f) prima facia
claim of secondary mesning or acquired distinetiveness pursuant Lo Rule of
Practice 2.41, sae Z2c. 23 of Act (15 U.S8.C. 10691); Rule of Prachtice 2,L7
28 3 possible remedy.
N.E. - legsl status and express admissicn of mere descripitivensss VIS-A-VIS
Entreprenzur and Rag. 1,187,239, in conjuncticn with the prominent
aisclaimer of Entreprensur in Reg. 1,223,364, Ses, Guszker State 0i1
Refining Corporation v. Qusker 01l Corperation, 172 USPQ 261 (CCPA, 1972 ;
Glmzmoreus Products Corporation v, Boyle-Midway, Tne., 188 USPQ 1L5 (DG S0,
Y, 1875%; Tn re Texa2s Instruments, Inc., 1493 USPQ 6786, €79 (TTAB, 1976);
o re Amtel, Ine., 186 USPG 5§, EP {(TT&E 1675 Epplicznt's compubaer
progrems and publication praductd highlight and nprtaln directly to the
aectivitiss 2nd aspirations of the individual business an':eprenwuv
[Nther then as Indicated =zbove] A the
reglstrsiion records, there iz no res
applicant's mark, when appli=d tc , BS
to czuse zonfusion; or Lo cause m £15 U
1052(c); TMEP secticn 1165.071.)
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TN \\j._ ~f3bplicant: Strategic Management Group,

LR ‘ 3624 Market Street

' ‘ University City
Philadelphia, PA 19104

Goods: COMPUTER SOFTWARE
First Use: July, 1984

ENTREPRENEUR




532159

rvard Associates, Incerporated
60 Deacon Serweet
Somerville, MA 02143 .

First use anywhere: March 28, 1985
First use in commerce: March 28, 1985

Goods: Computer software and documentatiop-

TREPRENEUR




Int. CL: 16
Prior US Cl.: 38
United States Patent and Tr

Reg. No. 1,187 ,239
19; 1982

Chase Revel, Inc. (California corporation)

631 Wilshire Blvd.
Santa Monica, Calil. 90401

KS AND REPORTS

For MAGAZINES. BOO
OPPORTUNITIES,

PERTAINING TO BUSINESS

in CLASS 16 (U.S. CL 38).
First use May 2, 1978; in comumerce May 2, 1978,

Ser. No. 223,003, filed PR. Il 12, 197%; Am. SR
Nov. 20, 1981.

BRIAN ANDERSON, Primacy Examiner
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) o
Int. Cl: 16 :
prior U.S. Cl: 38 |
. g __ReN
}_J_mted States Patent and Tradems? k Office Registeged Jan. 11,1983
- . B // .
//" TRADEMARK
Principal Register
ISFIiR]EI?IkIEPi]EIJIl INSIDERS PJIE‘NHSIJIEIfITEIR
For: PRINTED PUBUCATIONS-—NAMELY.
OOKS, REPORTS AND BRO-
O BUSINESS OFPOR-

, Inc. (Califomia corporntion)
NE.WSLETTERS, B
ES PERTAI GT
in CLASS 16 u.s. Cl 38).
Aug. 23,

Chase Revel
631 Wilshire Blvd.
Sants Monicg, Calif. 90401 CHUR!
TUNITIES, n C
} 3, 197% in commerce
Reg. Nos- 1,130,338 and 1,187.239.
s e use of the waords

thereto-
Ser. No- 231,127, filed

Sep. 13,1979

J.H WEBB, Emnﬁrﬁng Attarney




Int. CL: 16 ?
U.S. Cl: 38

Reg, No, 1,130,838
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office  Reg. Feh, 12, 1980

TRADEMARK =
Principal-Register '

L
s : \
p

S
INTERNATIONAL ENTREPRENEURS’ ASSOCIATION

—
e S I

Chase Revel, Ine. (California corporation) d.b.a, International . For: Publications and * Periodical Reports—Namely,
Entreprencurs’ Associnlion Newsletters, Brochures, Catalogs, Business Reparts and
1445 Sth St. Magozines —in Class 16 {U.S, CI. 38).
Santa Monica, Calif. 90401 First use Aug. 10, 1976; in commerce Aug. 10, 1976
The word “ Assoctation™ is disclaimed apart {rom the mark
25 shown,

Ser, No. 123,688, Filed Apr, 21, 1977,
RICHARD STRASER, Exnminer
JOHN C. DEMOS., Primary Exominer




_-ﬁ._‘_‘-—‘*‘—-—
Cl: 16 -~
rUS.Cli38 . v
LJ_, ' Reg. No, 1,167,253 *
dted States Patent and Trademark Office Registered Sep. 1, 1981
TRADEMARK
Principal Register
A :
AMERICAN ENTREPRENEURS ASSOCIATION
Chase Revel, Inc, (Californin corporntion}) For: PUBLICATIONS AND PERIODICAL RE-
631 Wilshire Blvd. PORTS—NAMELY, NEWSLETTERS, BRO-
'Sants Monica, Calif. 50401 CHURES, CATALOQOGS, BUSINESS REPORTS

AND MAGAZINES, in CLASS 16 (U.5. Q1. 38).
First use Jul. |, 1979; in commerce Jul. 1, 1979.
Owner of U.S, Reg. No. 1,130,838,

The word “Association” is disclaimed apart from
the mark as shown.

Ser. No. 230,893, filed Sep. 1, 1979,
_f * HENRY 5. ZAK, Primary Examiner
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U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE - Patent and Trademark Officé.

IN REPLY REFER TO THE FCLLOWING AND THE FILIRG DATE:

wrriAL NO. APPLICANT |  Paper No.
7= /ma7ETY ENTREFRENEUR, THE. ADDRESS:
MARK _ -Commizsioner of
: . Patents and .
—-4?f4§?R:H"E? - " Trademarks
. ADDRESS o ACTl‘ON NO. Washington, DC
g _ - : 20231
; S
MEMRY BIEBELL ATE .
2820 L& TIJERE EBOULEVARD MAILING DATE - v . sddress of

L0% ANGELES: CALIFORNIA 90043 2/07FRE o D e e
DE/07786 - npot containing fee
payments should

include the word
' FORM PTO-1525 (2-84) U.S. DEPT. OF COMM. PAT. & TM OFFICE "Box 5." °

it .

ety o o g A 4 e

Also furnish: (1) Serial number of application, (2) The mark, (3) Examining
Attorney's name and Law Office number, (4) Mailing date of this action, and
(5) Applicant's name (or applicant's attorney), telephone number and zip
code.

A- PROPER RESPONSE TO THIS OFFICE ACTION MUST BE RECEIVED WITHIN 6 MONTHS
FROM THE DATE OF THIS ACTION IN ORDER TO AVOID ABANDONMENT. o
e LA g
s et
fge A (8" Goalie
A7 '
" uiw

\ D ¢f
iith ;;EQgct to the statutory response and the earlier filed Ser. 532159 i
and Ser. 507969, a January 31, 1986 computerized check reflects suspended
status for 532159, and current opposition proceeding. status #72057 for
507969. ) .

ive to the communication received January 13, 1986.

N.B. - Section 2(e}(1) issue was inserted against both classes, 9 and 16,
as was further communicated to applicant's atforney via telecon-dimmediately
after the issuance of the July ¢, 1085 Office action. AppligeEnt has the
requisite, prima facie Sec. 2(f) claim only for the Cl. 16 %$cods based upon
usage of five years and more at the time of filing Ser. 537579. Applicant
has not presented a prima facie Section 2(f) claim for the Cl. 9 goods due
to the mere two years use at the time of filing Ser. 537579. Thus, Section
2{e)(1) issue is continued within the record for Cl. 9 goods, and the
Section 2(f) claim has been accepted for Cl. 16 goods.

Properly zamend the Cl. 9 and 16 product clauses. Specifically, as respect
Cl. 16, delete "text documentation for computer software". '"Computer

Program Manuals", when sold separately, fall inteo Int. Cl. 16. The usual
commercizal product item names must be substituted, in lieu of :
documentation. Delete Cl. 9 description and subatitute one or m?£;49£/fﬁé
belowmentioned, acceptable product descriptions: "Computer Programs for
use in business applications", Cl. 9; "Computer Programs and Program

Manuals for use in business applications all sold as a unit", Cl. 9.



Page 2

Upon receipt of a further appropriate amendment, Ser. 537579 will be
reviewed in due course. All other previous regquirsments, sxcept for thybse
specifically cited, have been satisfied. .

GIG:hrs . G. T. Glynn
: Trademarkjittornay
Law O0ffice III
(703) 557-9560
Ser. No. 537579
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U.S. DEPARTMENT CF CDMMERCE -~ Patent and Trademarl QOffice

IN HLPLX REFER TO THE rOLLOdIﬂG AND-$HE rILING DATE:

e d_{_{_,, fii ¢ NPT TSI 2 § :-.n» BaAE e L o P s ey

M A

“SERIAL Nc‘:’ e " APPLICANT . Paper No.
| J = INC .7M;:%LF, i '
___;3f43/579‘ENTREFﬁEﬂEUR NG - | ADDRESS:
MARK : ' “i ~ Commissicner of
) 1 Patents and
ENTREPRENEUF A m e
ADDHESS ' Trademarks

‘-f;. Washington, DC.

. HENRY EISSEL 20231

Lnode [The address of

.-~ all correspondencs
“not containing fee
.payments should
include the. word
,"BDX I: !

1.5, DEPT. OF. COMM: PAT. & TM OFFIC

RIS, S g .-w.—""

ﬁ?f‘i"flmf?s ‘f'_BfL-___M,_,. S RO
Also furnish: (1) Serial number of apprlcatlon (2) The mark, (3) Examining
Attorney's name and Law Cffice number, (4 Malllnv'daub of this action, and
(5). ﬁppllcant's name (or appllcant's attorney) telephone number and zip
code. o T \

4 PROPER RESPONSE TO THIS OFFICE-ACTIDN MUST BE RECEIVED WITHIN 6 MONTES
FROM THE DATE COF THIS ACTION IN ORDER TO AVOID ABANDONMENT.

Resbonsive E communication received ust 12 1985 %/
WD 00 WWJ Ky &3NS G I a1 pav ‘vaw,,;,pﬁ

Serial Ha.V5 2 159 is stﬁll a pending casa per a 9/4/86 computerized check.
Serial No. DT 9689 has been abandoned per a 9/4/86 computerized check.

Applicant'™s Class 9 product clause is erronecus. A3 was expressed to %k%
applicant in the 2/7/86 action and subsegqguent 37/3/86 telcon, the preferre
proper description should reflect "Computer Programs and Program Use/l
Manuals A1l Sold As A Unit. The specific objection to documentation in

our law office rests with the distinet possibility of ladvertising being !
subsumed under a broad, indefinite term, such as, documentation. The Class
16 description is acceptable; Amendatory action is required. !

Applicant's comments relative to the Section 2(e) (1) issue appear to be VJ
puradox Specifically applicant owns a "Qupplemental Register” mark, i.e. p
, 167,239 for the .identical mark, which is an evidentiary admission of its / jew
mer91y descriptive nature, Quaker State Uil Refining Corporation v. Quaknr
0il Corporation, 172 USPQ 361 (CCPA 1962); Ajax Hardware Corporation v.
Packaging Techniques, Inc., 182 USPQ 559 (DC Calif. 1974}). Applicant's
prima facie, Section 2050 clalm in this case for the identieal mark in
Class 16.is an evidentiary admission of mere descriptiveness. Applicant
then argues suddenly that- for Clasa 9 software program merchandise
specifically tailored for the individual busiress entrepreneur's usage that
Entreprensur im inherently distinctive. The undersigned, examining
attorney does not accept this proposition. Enclosed is Exhibit CAnj),
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, Whiech readily displays the enormous notoriety of entrepreneur and

entrepreneurship in the current business marketplace scene. Applicant's
Class 9 software program merchandlisse gquickly and materially =zassists the
business entreprenesur to achieve entrepreneuriazal success in their chosen
market or field by quickly providing critical information in the accepted
procedures to become an entrepreneur via proper market intelligence,
budgetary and planning, and operational cost-cutting technigues. Seciicn
2(e)(1) issue is continued in the record,

Upon receipt of a further approprlate amendment, this case will be reviewed
vis-a-vis Serizl No. 532,159 and appllcant's forthecoming secondary meaning
claim for tae mark in Clas= 9 by virtue of- separate ewlaentlary eriteria

well outlined in Rule 2.41.

GTG/1r ~@. T. Glynp
" Trademarlk
Law O0ffic (R
(TO3J.557~‘560
Zerial No. 537579

{torney
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- Int, Cls.: 9 and 16
Prior U.S. Cl.: 38

United States Patent and Trademark Office

Reg. No. 1,453,968
Registered Ang. 25, 1987

TRADEMARK
PRINCIPAL REGISTER

ENTREPRENEUR

ENTREPRENEUR, INC. (CALIFORNIA CORPO-
RATION)

2311 PONTIUS AVENUE

LOS ANGELES, CA 50064

FOR: COMPUTER PROGRAMS AND PRO-
GRAMS USER MANUALS AILI. SOLD AS A
UNIT, IN CLASS 9 (U.S. CL. 38).

FIRST USE 5-19-1983; IN
5-19-1983.

FOR: PAPER GOODS AND PFPRINTED
MATTER; NAMELY MAGAZINES, BOOKS

COMMERCE

AND PUBLISHED REPORTS PERTAINING TO
BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES, IN CLASS 16 (U.S.
CL. 38).

FIRST USE
5-2-1978, -
OWNER OF U.S. REG. NOS. 1,130,838, 1,223,364

0 S.
SEC. 2(F) GNLY AS TO CLASS 16 GOODS.

5-2-1978; IN COMMERCE
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Latesl Staius Info

Thank you for your request. Here are the latest results from the TARR web server.

This page was generated by the TARR system on 2010-12-13 21:29:07 ET

Serial Number: 73223003 Assignment Information Trademark Document Retrieval

Registration Number: 1187234

Mark (words only): ENTREPRENEUR

Standard Character claim; No

Current Status: Registration canceled under Section 8.
Date of Status: 1988-09-1(

Filing Date: 1979-07-12

Transformed into a National Application: No
Registration Date: 1982-01-19

Register: Supplemental

Law Office Assigned: (NOT AVAILABLE)

Page 1 of 2

If you are the applicant or applicant's attorney and have questions about this file, please contact the Trademark

Assista sistamreCentertusplo.goy

>

Current Location: 001 -File Destroyed

o
‘\

ion;—190:4.05.07

LAST APPLICANT(S)OWNER(S) OF RECORD

1. Chase Revel, Inc.

Address:

Chase Revel, Inc,

631 Wilshire Blvd.

Sania Monica, CA 90401

United Stales

Legal Entity Type: Corporation

State or Country of Incorporation: California

GOODS AND/OR SERVICES

International Class: 016

Class Status: Section 8 - Cancelled

Magazines, Books and Reports Periaining to Business Opportunitics
Basis: 1(a)

First Use Date: 1978-05-02

First Use in Commerce Date: 1978-05-02

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

hitnsHfarr nento raviiarr?reocer=remciration antru=1 17320, netinn=1 prtiact £ Qlatiie

1913/ 010



Laltest Status Info Page 20f2

{NOT AVAILABLE)

MADRID PROTOCOL INFORMATION

(NOT AVAILABLE)

PROSECUTION HISTORY

NOTE: To view any document referenced below, click on the link to "Trademark Document Retrieval" shown
near the top of this page.

1988-09-10 - Canceled Section 8 (6-year)

1982-01-19 - Registered - Supplemental Register

ATTORNEY/CORRESPONDENT INFORMATION

Attorney of Record
Henry M. Bissell

Correspondent

Henry M. Bissell

Suile 106

6820 Latijera Blvd.
Los Angeles CA 90045
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IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

CApplicant

VEnErepreneur, Inc, _ ' '
S Law Office : III
537,579

Serial No.

T™M Attorney : G.T. Glynn
Filed e ;

May 14, 1985

For . i Trademark: . ENTREPRENEUR

DECLARATION OF:WELLiﬁGTOﬁ_AT EWEN

T, WELLINGTON A. EWEN, do’ hereby declare as f£ollows:

i am the Presiéeht.of Entrepreneur, Inc., a California
corporation (heteihéfter my company“), the applicant in application
Serial No. 537 579, more partlcularly 1dent1f1ed above, to register the
‘mark ENTREPRENEUR for the follow1ng goods:

Class 9:. Electrical and Scientific Apparatus, Namely Magnetic Media
Bear ing Recorded_éompueer.Pxograms; and

Class 16: Paper Goods And Printed Matter, Namely Magazines, Books And
Published Reports;- » |

My_eomﬁany is engaged in the business of.publishing various
magazines.and repo:ts; principally related to the subject matter of
startinéjand opereiing smalli businesses, and of producing computer
programe and related documentation for sale to the public, specifically
including the subject matter of the goods rec1ted in the
above—ldentlfled appllcatlon.

Prior to adopting its present name, my company's name was Chase

. Revel, Inc.; it has also conducted bus1ness under the name: "American

Entrepreneur s Assocmatlon"

Said mark has been registered on the/g;;;iemental Register under
Reglstratlon No. 1,187,238 on January 19 -1982. The application for
said registration was converted from an epélication for registration on
the Principal Register Serial No. 223,003, filed July 12, 1979.
' Applieaﬁt.is the-owﬁef of eaid_registration. ‘

; Applicant believes that the mark has become distinctive, as

-1-




" thereon.

aﬁplied to apélicant's'goeds, by reason of subetantially exclusive and
contlnuous use therecof as a mark by the appllcant in commerce for the
flve years next precedlng May 14, 1985 the flllng date of the subject
appllcatlon.

I declare that all statements made herein of my own knowledge are
true and that all statements made on information .and bellef are believed

to be trqe;-and further that these statements were made with the

knowledge-that willful falSe statements and the like‘se made are

punlshable by fine or 1mprlsonment br both under Section 1001 of Title
18 of the Unlted States Code and that such willful false statements may

jeopard;ze;the validity of the application or any registration issuing

Dated: January 8, 1986

“ .Welﬁgg tQﬂ“"A.*’Eweﬁ T
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™ : ' TRADEMARK
: «?

IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK QOFFICE

MARK ENTREFPRENEUR

REGISTRATION NO.: 1,453,968

N CLLASSES : INT'L,. CLASSES 95 and 16
REGISTERED H August 25, 1987
REGISTRANT : Entrepreneur, Inc.

SECTION 8 & 15 DECLARATION

JAMES L. FITZPATRICK .-hereby declares that he is the
Executive Vice~President of(E;;;epreneur, Inc., Registrant of the
above-identified ﬁegistra_tion, and is authorized to make this
declaration on behalf of the Registrant.

Thét Entrepreneur, Inc., a Caldifornia corporation, owns
Registration No. 1,453,968, issued August 25, 1987, as shown by
records in the Patent and Trademark OFffice; %hat the mark shggw
therein,ﬁgs been in continuous use in Interézgge Commerce for five

consecutive years from the date of registration to the present for

the following services recited in the Registration:

. """*‘.ﬂ
FOR: ,COMPUTER PROGRAMS AND PROGRAMS USER MANUALS AILTL

SOLD AS A UNIT, IN CLASS 9 (U.S. CL. 38)

/—' and
FOR: ﬁ,PER GOODS AND PRINTED MATTER? NAMELY MAGAZINES,

BOOKS AND PU?LISHED REPORTS PERTAINING TO BUSINESS
OPPOR&UNITIEQ, IN CLASS 16 (U.S. CL. 38).
y//ﬁ. ///
That said mark is still in use in said Interstate
Commerce as evidenced by the attached specimens, 295’for each of
the classes involved, showing the mark as currently used; that
there has been no final decision adverse to Registrant's claim of

ownership of said mark, to its right to register the same or

040 FT 10/05/92 1453948 O 374

: e
400,00 oK 7
ENTR&1BA.DCL 1




® &
maintain it on ‘the Register, and that there is no ﬁ;;;aeding
involving any of said rights pending and not disposed of either in
the Patent and Trademark Office or in the Courts.

I further declare that all statements made herein of my
own Knowledge are true and that all statements made on information
and belief are believed to be true; and further that these
statements were made with the knowledge that willful false
statements and the Like so made are punishable by fine or
imprisonment, or both, underwgg;;;on 1001 of Title 18 of the United
States Code and that such willful false statements may Jeopardize

the validity of the application or document or any registration

resulting therefrom.

Dated: September /f , 1992

ENTR618A.DCL : 2
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REGISTRATION NO. 1453968
MARK: ENTREPRENEUR

REGISTRANT: ENTREPRENEUR, INC.

CORRESPONDENCE ADDRESS:
HENRY BISSELL
6820 LA TIJERA BOULEVARD
SUITE 106
LOS ANGELES, CA 90045-1991

UNITED STATEy DEPARTMENT OF ZOMMERCE

Patent and Tr!;f_uark Office
ASSISTANT SECREVARY AND COMMISSIONER
OF PATENTS AND TRADEMARKS

Washington, D.C. 20231

SERIAL NO. 73/537579 PAPER NOQ.

MAILING DATE: 12/28/92

Flease furnish the following
in all correspondence:

Your phone number and zip code,
Maillng- dete of this action.
Affidavit-Renawal Examiner's nama.
The address of all correspondence
not containing fees should include
the words "Box 6.

5. Reglstration No.

bl o il

RECEIPT IS ACKNOWLEDGED OF THE SUBMITTED REQUEST UNDER:

SECTION 8 OF THE TRADEMARE STATUTE AND 37 CFR SECS. 2.1561-2,166.

SECTION 15 OF THE TRADEMARK STATUTE AND 37 CFR SECS. 2-.167"2.168.

YOUR REQUEST FULFILLS THE STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS AND HAS BEEN ACCEPTED.

WYE JEAN SMITH
AFFIDAVIT-RENEWAL EXAMINER
TRADEMARK EXAMINING OPERATION
{703} 30B8-9500 EXT. 38
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AFFIDAVIT OF DANIEL R. CASTRO
THE STATE OF TEXAS §
§
COUNTY OF TRAVIS §
BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, on this day personally appeared Mr.
Daniel R. Castro, who being by me first duly sworn upon his oath deposed and stated as
follows:
My name is Daniel R. Castro. I am over the age of 21 and am of sound mind and
am capable of making this affidavit. Ihave personal knowledge of the facts stated below,
and every statement is true and correct,

The copy of the Order Granting Summary Judgment attached hereto is an exact
duplicate of the original that can be found in the public record of the Federal District
Court for the Central District of California. The file stamp of the Federal District Court

is clearly visible on the document, showing its authenticity.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NOT: /@ Mé@z’é’,
/4

Daniel R. Castro

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME the undersigned authority on

this \Ath day of December 2010, C) f_
Y /%

Notary Public, State of Texas

T,

LISA C, GANT
; Notary Public, State of Texas
e PN My Commission Expires
NS March 25, 2014

“Ht s

T
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f'?/.ifk
FILED
’ CLERK US DISTRICT COURT
THIS CONSTITUTES NOTICE OF ENTRY
AS REQUIRED BY FRCP, RULE 77(d). D98 000

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA \ o
By peputy| )
7 __q_/ -

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT O ’D)) /%

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ENTREPRENEUR MEDIA, INC., ) CV 98-3607 FMC (BQRx)
)
Plaintiff, ) ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND
) DENYING IN PART PLAINTIFES
Vs, ) MOTION FOR SUMMARY
) JUDGMENT; DENYING
) DEFENDANT’S MOTION
SCOTT SMITH, dba } FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
ENTREPRENEURPR ) e AT T
) cLzme s ) ':'r_cou_slar
Defendants. ) |
| JN 2.3 2000
I. Introduction -
g\e’m D! OF CA”SE?"}'&
Plaintiff filed a complaint for trademark infringement u 5.C. of the

Lanham Act and unfair competition under California Business and Professions Code §
17200, alleging that defendant’s marks, including ENTREPRENEURPR and
ENTREPRENEUR ILLUSTRATED are confusingly similar to plaintiff’s marks. Plaintiff
also alleges that defendant’s unauthorized use of its mark, ENTREPRENEUR'S SMALL

BUSINESS SQUARE, constitutes counterfeiting under 15 U.S.C. § 1114,

/ Docket meg ZUUH
37 Copied / NTC Sent
L3O J5-5 /98"

—J5-2/JS-3
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Both parties have filed motions for summary judgment contending that no genuine
issues of material fact remain and each is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Plaintiff
also seeks damages and attorney fees.

II. Standard

Summary judgment or summary adjudication is only proper where “the pleadings,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits,
if any, show that there is no issue as fo any material fact and that the moving party is entitled
to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. Rule Civ. Proc. 56(c); see alse Matsushita Elec. Indus.
Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586-87, 106 S. Ct. 1348, 89 L. Ed. 2d 538
(1986).

The moving party bears the initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine
issue of material fact. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 256, 106 S. Ct.
2505, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (1986). If the moving party meets its initial burden, the “adverse
party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the adverse party’s pleading, but
the adverse party’s response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set
forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.” Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 56(e).
Summary judgment is appropriate where the nonmoving party fails to make a sufficient
showing on an essential element of the case on which that party will bear the burden of proof
at tnal, See Celotex Corp. v. Catretf, 477 U.8. 317,323, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 91 L. Ed. 2d 265
(1986).

/ / /
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I11. Uncontroverted Facts

|, Since 1978, plaintiff has continuously used the mark ENTREPRENEUR in
connection with its magazine. Lesonsky Dec. § 3.

2. Plaintiff registered the mark ENTREPRENEUR for printed publications in 1987.
Finkelstein Dec. § 4, Ex. E.

3. Plaintiff’s mark appears in red letters on the cover of its publication
ENTREPRENEUR. Kravitz Dec., Ex. 2.

4, Plaintifs website is found at ENTREPRENEUR.COM and
ENTREPRENEURMAG.COM. Fuller Dec. 6, Ex. M.

5. Plaintiff uses and has registered several other variations of the word “entrepreneur”
to identify publications or services including: ENTREPRENEUR EXPO, ENTREPRENEUR
INTERNATIONAL, ENTREPRENEURIAL WOMAN, ENTREPRENEURMAG.COM,
ENTREPRENEUR'S HOME OFFICE, ENTREPRENEUR'S INSIDER NEWSLETTER,
ENTREPRENEUR MAGAZINE'S GUIDE TO FRANCHISE AND BUSINESS
OPPORTUNITIES, ENTREPRENEUR MAGAZINE’S ONLINE. Finkelstein Dec., Ex. E.

6. Plamtiff’s goods and services include: “software, business guides, video and audio
tapes, . . . web sites and online services, . . . creat[ing] and participat{ing] in trade shows,
seminars, educational programs, and business services, all in connection with small
businesses.” Lesonsky Dec. ¥ 3.

7. In December 1996, plaintiff listed defendant’s company ICON publications on its

“Small Business Links” page and gave defendant permission to use plaintiff’s logo, Small
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Business Square, on his website. Fuller Dec. § 3.

8. In 1997, defendant changed the name of his business from ICON publications to
ENTREPRENEURPR and the name of his publication from Yearbook of Small Business
Icons to ENTREPRENEUR ILLUSTRATED. Smith Dep. 124:20-125:6; Finkelstein Dec.,
Ex.F.

9. Defendant’s website is found at ENTREPRENEURPR.COM. Finkelsteing Dec.,
Ex. F.

10. Defendant’s mark appears on the cover of his publication in yellow. Kravitz Dec.,
Ex. 3.

11. Defendant’s goods and services include: preparing and publishing press releases
that profile small businesses and providing information on the Internet. Smith Dec. § 2.

12. Four of defendant’s clients or potential clients state that they believed that
defendant was “affiliated” with plaintiff;, “part of Entreprencur magazine” or otherwise
associated with plaintiff. Demarest Dec. § 8; Cesare-Taie Dec.  8; Chippi Dec. Y 5;
Breshahan Dep. 20:16-21:5.

13. Defendant’s former employees state that potential clients asked them if defendant
was affiliated with plaintiff. Kufarsimes Dep. 38:22-39:23; Gurely Dep. 41:7-24.

IV, Trademark Infringement

“The core element of trademark infringement is the likelihood of confusion, i.e.,

whether the similarity of the marks is likely to confuse customers about the source of the

products.” E. & J. Gallo Winery v. Gallo Cattle Co., 967 F.2d 1280, 1290 (9" Cir. 1992).
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The Court’s concern for confusion among *“consumers” as opposed to the general public is
grounded in the very purpose of trademark law,

[T]rademark law, by preventing others from copying a source-identifying mark,

“reduce[s] the customer’s costs of shopping and making purchasing decisions,” for

it quickly and easily assures a potential customer that this item — the item with this

mark — is made by the same producer as other similarly marked items that he or she
liked (or disliked) in the past. At the same time, the law helps assure a producer that
it (and not an imitating competitor) will reap the financial, reputation-related rewards
associated with a desirable product.
Qualitex Co. v. Jacobson Products Co. Inc., 514 U.S, 159, 163-64, 115 S. Ct. 1300, 131 L.
Ed. 2d 248 (1995) (citation omitted).

Plaintiff’s consumers in this case are small business owners who read plaintiff’s
publications and utilize plaintiff’s resources via the Internet and Entrepreneur Expo.
Defendant’s consumers are small business owners who purchase his public relations services
and those who receive his publication. Accordingly, the likelihood of confusion inquiry in
this case is limited to whether a reasonably prudent small business owner or other individual
seeking either publications or services targeted to small businesses might confuse
defendant’s services with plaintiff's. See Dreamwerks Prod. Group, Inc., v. SKG Studio,
142 F.3d 1127, 1130 (9" Cir. 1998); see also Murray v. Cable Nat'l. Broadcasting Co., 86
F.3d 858, 861 (9" Cir. 1996) (“A likelihood of confusion exists when a consumer viewing
a service mark is likely to purchase the services under a mistaken belief that the services are,
or [are] associated with, the services of another provider.”).

The Court looks to the eight factors set forth in AMF Inc. v. Sleekcraft Boas, 599

F.2d 341 (9" Cir. 1979), to determine the likelihood of consumer confusion: (1) strength of
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the mark; (2) proximity or relatedness of the goods; (3) similarity of the sight, sound and
meaning of the marks; (4) evidence of actual confusion; (5) degree to which the marketing
channels converge; (6) types of goods and degres of care consumers are likely to exercise
when purchasing; (7) intent of defendants in selecting the infringing mark; and (8) likelihood
that the parties will expand their product lines. d. at 348-50; see also Official Airline
Guides, Inc. v. Goss, 6 F.3d 1385, 1391 (9" Cir. 1993); Gallo, 967 F.2d at 1290.

This list of factors is neither exhaustive nor exclusive and is intended to guide the
Court in assessing the basic question of likelihood of consumer confusion. See Gallo, 967
F.2d at 1290. Because these factors are not to be applied in a mechanical manner, the Court
considers the Sleekcraft factors in order of their importance to the pending case, See
Brookfield Communications Inc. v. West Coast Entertainment Corp., 174 F.3d 1036, 1054
n.16 (9" Cir. 1999); Dreamwerks, 142 F.3d at 1129.

imilarity of th

Similarity of the marks is “a critical question in the likelthood of confusion analysis.”
GoTo.Com, Inc. v. Walt Disney Co., 202 F.3d 1199, 1205 (9" Cir. 2000). The greater the
similarity between the two marks, the greater the likelihood of confusion. See id. at 1206,
Similarity is determined by the appearance, sound and meaning of the marks when
considered in their entirety and as they appear in the marketplace. See GoTo.Com, 202 F.3d
at 1206; Dreamwerks, 142 F.3d at 1131; Sleekcrafi, 599 F.2d at 351, The similarities of the
marks are weighed more heavily than differences. See GoTo.Com, 202 F.3d at 1206;

Brookfield, 174 F.3d at 1054,
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Plaintiff has used the mark ENTREPRENEUR since 1978. Uncontroverted Fact
(“UF”) 1. It registered the mark for publications and computer services in 1987. UF 2.
Plaintiff’s mark appears in red letters on the cover of its publication ENTREPRENEUR. UF
3. Plaintiff also uses and has registered several other variations of the word to identify other
publications or services including: ENTREPRENEUR EXPO, ENTREPRENEUR
INTERNATIONAL, ENTREPRENEURIAL WOMAN, ENTREPRENEURMAG.COM,
ENTREPRENEUR’S HOME OFFICE, ENTREPRENEUR’S INSIDER NEWSLETTER,
ENTREPRENEUR MAGAZINE'S GUIDE TO FRANCHISE AND BUSINESS
OPPORTUNITIES, ENTREPRENEUR MAGAZINE’S ONLINE. UF 5.

In 1997, defendant changed the name of his business from ICON publications to
ENTREPRENEURPR and the name of his publication from Yearbook of Small Business
Icons to ENTREPRENEUR ILLUSTRATED. UF 8, Defendant also uses
ENTREPRENEURPR.COM as his website’s address. UF. 9. On the cover of its
publication, defendant’s mark, ENTREPRENEUR ILLUSTRATED, appears in yellow. UF
10.

The sound of the marks is overwhelmingly similar, although ENTREPRENEURPR
contains additional letters that would be pronounced “P™R.” ENTREPRENEUR
ILLUSTRATED also sounds similar to plaintiff’s mark,

The marks looks similar. Although PR is found at the end of defendant’s mark, it
does not change the fact that plaintiff’s entire mark is contained within it. The fact that

defendant’s publication title, ENTREPRENEUR ILLUSTRATED, contains an additional
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word does not diminish the fact that entrepreneur is contained in the title making the
appearance of the marks similar. Moreover, the word entrepreneur is clearly the dominant
of the two words on the cover of the publication. Defendant places a great deal of emphasis
on the fact that plaintiff’s mark appears in red on its publications and defendant’s is in
yellow. However, the color difference does not diminish the fact that the word
ENTREPRENEUR is the most prominent visual feature of both publications’ covers.

Finally, although defendant’s mark contains the additional meaning of PR or public
relations, the meaning of ENTREPRENEUR -— smiall, independent business owners — is
suggested by both.

Because plaintiff’s entire registered mark ENTREPRENEUR makes up the primary
portion of each defendant’s marks, the marks are similar based on sight sound and meaning,
Because the Court weighs similarities of the marks more heavily than differences,
Brookfield, 174 F.3d at 1054, this factor weighs in favor of finding a likelihood of confission.
Relatedness of the Goods

“Related goods are more likely than non-related goods to confuse the public as to the
producers of goods.” Official Airline Guides, Inc., 6 F.3d at 1392. “[P]roducts which would
be reasonably thought by the buying public to come from the same source if sold under the
same mark” are considered related. Sleekcraff, 599 F.2d at 348 n.10. Moreover, when goods
are complementary, sold to the same class of purchasers, or similar in use and function, less
similarity between the marks is needed when analyzing this factor. See Sleekcrafi, 599 F.2d

at 350.
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Plaintiff’s goods and services include: “software, business guides, video and audio
tapes, . . . web sites and online services, . . . creat[ing] and participat{ing] in trade shows,
seminars, educational programs, and business services, all in connection with small
businesses.” UF 6.

Defendant’s goods and services include: preparing and publishing press releases that
profile small businesses and providing information on the Internet. UF 11,

In sum, both parties print publications that feature small businesses. They each
provide information about their own services and publications on the Internet. These goods
and services are sufficiently similar to support a finding that the goods and services are
related. See, e.g., Brookfield, 174 F.3d at 1057 (where both companies offered products
related to “the entertainment industry generally,” the products were related). This factor
weighs in favor finding a likelihood of confusion.

Actual Confusion

Evidence of actual confusion is “persuasive proof that fiture confusion is likely.”
Kendall-Jackson Winery, Ltd. v. E.&J. Gallo Winery, 150 F. 3d 1042, 1048 (9" Cir. 1998)
(citation omitted). Plaintiff offers the following evidence to support a finding of actual
confusion: declarations from four of defendant’s clients or potential clients stating that they
believed that defendant was “affiliated” with plaintiff or was “part of Entreprenenr
magazine” or otherwise associated with plaintiff. UF 12. Plaintiff also points to the
statements of defendant’s former employees that potential clients asked them if defendant

was affiliated with plaintiff, UF 13,
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Defendant argues that his clients’ statements are open to impeachment because (1)
they were not subject to cross examination, (2) they contain hearsay and (3) each client had
payment disputes with defendant that call into question his or her credibility. Defendant
points to no evidence to support its allegations that the witnesses are not éredible and
provides no basis to exclude the evidence. Moreover, sworn declarations are clearly
appropriate evidence on a motion for summary judgment. See Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 56(g).
Defendant also contends that the statements of his employees should be disregarded because
they contain hearsay. Plaintiff argues that the statements are not hearsay because they are
not offered for their truth (that the entities are associated), but only to demonstrate the state
of mind of the caller (confusion as to whether the parties were associated). The Court
concludes that these statements are not hearsay.

Although not overwhelming, evidence that four customers stated that they believed
defendant’s services were affiliated with plaintiff and questions from potential clients about
whether defendant was affiliated with plaintiff is sufficient for the Court to find actual
confusion exists. This factor weighs in favor of finding a likelihood of confusion.

[ i0 Adonting Mal

“When an alleged infringer knowingly adopts a mark similar to another’s, courts will
presume an intent to deceive the public.” See Official Airline Guides, 6 F.3d at 1394; see
also Sleekcrafi, 599 F.2d at 354. Evidence before the Court demonstrates that defendant was
well aware of plaintiff’s mark when it decided to change its name and adopt new marks,

Defendant’s business had been featured in plaintiff’s publication; a fact defendant publicized

10
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to his clients. The marks are clearly similar, supporting the Court’s presumption that
defendant intended to confuse the public by adopting the mark.

Defendant’s argument that he believed that he could properly use the mark because
he did not compete with plaintiff is unavailing. The inquiry is whether he knew the marks
were similar. Moreover, likelihood of confusion does not require competition between the
parties’ goods and services. As noted above, goods that are merely complementary will
support a finding of a likelihood of confusion. See Sleekcrafi, 599 F.2d at 350.

Plaintiff also points to defendant’s statement to an employee that “it’s great” that
potential customers think defendant and plaintiff are affiliated. See Gurley Dep. 42:24-43:2.
This statement was made after the marks were adopted. Only defendant’s intent at the time
he adopted the mark is relevant to this factor. However inculpatory, defendant’s statement
to Gurley is irrelevant to this factor.

The Court finds that defendant knowingly adopted a mark that was similar to
plaintiff’s mark. This factor weighs in favor of finding a likelihood of confusion.
Strength of the Mark

Because plaintiff has registered its mark, ENTREPRENEUR, and used it in
commerce for over five years, plaintiff’s mark is incontestable, See 15 U.S.C. § 1065 (“the
right of the registrant to use such registered mark in commerce for the goods or services on
or in connection with which such registered mark has been in continuous use for five
consecutive years subsequent to the date of such registration and is still in use in commerce,

shall be incontestable™).

11
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Defendant contends that plaintiff;;“rﬂr;ark i8 gener-ilcﬂq;de‘s)criptive and entitledtono ! 5\[, ﬂ-"?"“t
protection. However, because plaintiff’s mark {;:'inl{cgéatestable, defendant may not challenge ’
it as “merely descriptive.” See Park 'N Fly, Inc., v. Dollar Park and Fly, Inc., 469 U.S. 189,

196, 105 S. Ct. 658, 83 L. Ed. 2d 582 (1985).

Defendant also argues that plaintiff’s mark is weak because the word “entreprencur”

is a common word in the English language that cannot be removed from general use by
plaintiff’s registration. He points to the Second Circuit’s decision in Gruner + Jahr USA
Publishing, v. Meredith Corp., 991 F.2d 1072 (2" Cir. 1993), in support of this contention.
The Gruner court affirmed a trial court’s determination that the “parents” portion of the
plaintiff’s mark was extremely weak because it was a common word in the language. See
id. at 1078. The court analyzed the strength of the word without reference to what product
or service it was used to identify. See id. Because the Ninth Circuit does not follow the
same approach as the Second Circuit in determining the strength of the mark, Gruner is
neither controlling nor persuasive authority on this Court,

For purposes of determining the likelihood of confusion in this Circuit, the strength
of the mark is determined by its relationship to the products or services the mark identifies.
See Brookfield, 174 F.3d 1036, (“Brookfield’s trademark is not descriptive because is does
not describe either the software product or its purpose.”). Accordingly, the fact that
plaintiff’s mark 1s a common noun does not affect its strength. Plaintiff’s registered mark
is incontestable and is entitled to protection as a strong mark. This factor weighs in favor of

finding a likelihood of confusion.

12
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rketi [

Plaintiff contends that parties’ marketing channels overlap because both send their
publications to media entities, target small business owners and use the Internet to market
their services and provide information. Defendant contends that the only overlap between
the parties” marketing channels is the use of the Internet because defendant does not sell his
publication on newsstands or to subscribers,

There is no evidence as to how defendant markets his services to new clients or how
plaintiff markets its products and services to new customers. The evidence before the Court
demonsirates that both parties use the Internet as a marketing channel to promote their goods
and services, This evidence, albeit nominal, demonstrates that the parties’ marketing
channels overlap, supporting a finding of a likelihood of confusion,
Degree of Consumer Care

“Likelihood of confusion is determined on the basis of a ‘reasonably prudent
consumer.’ . . . What is expected of this reasonably prudent consumer depends on the
circumstances.” Brookfield, 174 F.3d at 1060 (citations omitted). Generally, when
purchasing expensive items, the buyer is expected to be more discemning and less easily
confused. See id. ; see also Gallo, 967 F.2d at 1293,

As noted above, plaintiff’s consumers in this case are small business owners and
others who read its publications, use the Internet, and purchase or participate in the
educational resources provided by plaintiff. Defendant’s consumers are small business

owners who purchase his public relations services, potential clients, Internet users and the
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media entities who receive his publication. Plaintiff argues that because defendant’s
publication is provided to media entities at no charge, consumers will exercise little care.
Defendant argues that consumers are sophisticated media entities, business owners and
advertisers who will exercise a great deal of care. The price of defendant’s publication is not
the only consideration relevant to this factor. The Court finds that small business owners
seeking public relations services, advertisers and media entities will exercise a moderate
degree of care. This factor weighs against finding a likelihood of confusion.
ih f Ex

Plaintiff contends that this factor weighs in favor of finding a likelihood of confusion
because the parties’ goods and services currently overlap. Defendant argues that because
plaintiff does not plan to provide public relations services, there is no likelihood of
expansion. Although there is no evidence that parties intend to expand their services to
create additional overlap, it is clear that some overlap exists already, Accordingly, this
factor weighs neither in favor nor against finding a likelihood of confusion.

angin

The Court finds that all but one factor weigh in favor of finding a likelihood of
confusion in this case. Only the degree of consumer care weighs against finding a likelihood
of confusion. Based on the above analysis, the Court concludes that defendant’s mark is
confusingly similar to plaintiff’s mark. Plaintiff is entitled to summary adjudication of its
claim for trademark infringement.

/ / /
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V. Unfair Competition under California Code § 17200

Plaintiff correctly contends that the same facts supporting the Courts conclusion that
defendant has violated the Lanham Act are sufficient to demonstrate a violation of California
Business & Professions Code § 17200. See Summit Technology, Inc. v. High-Line Medical
Instruments Co., 933 F. Supp 918 (C.D. Cal. 1996) (holding that facts supporting a party’s
claim for violation of § 1125(a) also support claims for unfair competition). Because the
ultimate test under both is “whether the public is likely to be deceived or confused,” the
Court’s conclusion that defendant’s mark is confusingly similar to plaintiff’s mark controls
the resolution of the unfair competition claim. See Cleary v. News Corporation, 30 F. 3d
1255, 1262-63 (9™ Cir. 1994) (“actions pursuant to California Business and Professions
Code § 17200 are ‘substantially congruent’ to claims made under the Lanham Act”),
Plaintiff is entitled to summary adjudication of its claim for unfair competition under
California law.

VL Counterfeiting

Plaintiff alleges that defendant’s unauthorized use of its SMALL BUSINESS
SQUARE mark on defendant’s website constitutes counterfeiting. In July 1997, plaintiff
selected defendant’s business to be featured on its SMALL BUSINESS SQUARE website
and permitted defendant to place the SMALL BUSINESS SQUARE mark on his website,
UF. 7. However, in January 1998, plaintiff notified defendant that he no longer had
permission to use the mark on his website. Sometime during the pendency of this litigation,

defendant removed the mark from his site.
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Counterfeiting is a form of trademark infringement and requires plaintiff to
demonstrate that: (1) defendant is using a counterfeit, copy or imitation of plaintiff's mark;
(2) without plaintiff’s consent; (3) in commerce; (4) in connection with the sale, offering for
sale, distribution or advertising of any goods; (5) where such use is likely to cause confusion,
or to cause mistake or to deceive. See 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1)(a). The test for infringement of
§ 1114 15 the same as that for § 1125(a): likelihood of confusion. See Avery Dennison Corp,
v. Sumpton, 189 F.3d 868, 873 (9™ Cir. 1999).

Defendant contends that at the time he “was granted permission to use the logo, he
was not made aware that Plaintiff had any policy regarding the use of this loge.” Opp. at
23.! This statement may be true, but the evidence before the Court demonstrates that
defendant was clearly informed that use after January 1998 was unauthorized. See
Finkelstein Dec. Ex. I. There is sufficient evidence to demonstrate that defendant used
plaintiff’s mark without authorization.

However, plaintiff has not demonstrated that a likelihood of confusion exists.
Plaintiff’s cursory statement that by the time defendant removed the mark from his website
“the damages has been done, as Smith had created the mistaken belief among consumers that
his web site and services were associated with, or endorsed by, Entrepreneur” is insufficient

to prevail on summary adjudication. See Points and Authorities at 21, Without citation to

' Defendant’s single sentence statement that “under the holding of Welles, such
use is clearly fair use” is insufficient to assert and demonstrate this affirmative defense.
Opp at 23,
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evidence or authority by plaintiff, the Court cannot conclude that the placement of plaintiff’s
mark on defendant’s website constitutes counterfeiting in violation of § 1114.

Because plaintiff has not met its “initial burden of demonstrating the absence of a
genuine issue of material fact” it is not entitled to summary adjudication of its claim for
counterfeiting. See Anderson, 477 U.S. at 256.

VIL. Damages and Attorney Fees

Plaintiff’s requests for an award of damages and attorney fees are denied. A
determination of the amount of either damages or attorney fees is premature until each of
plaintiff’s claims for relief has been resolved by the Court.

VII. Conclusion

Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment, filed May 19, 2000, is granted in part and
denied in part. Plaintiff is entitled to summary adjudication of its claims for trademark
infringement and unfair competition. Plaintiff’s motion is denied in all other respects,

Defendant’s motion for summary judgment, filed June 2, 2000, is denied.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

FLORENCE-MARIE COOPER, TUDGE
June 28, 2000 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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